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artifacts and trinkets for sale. The beginning of the 1930's even saw the
addition of a tennis court in the center property.

The 29.Crash and Depression

‘The period of relaxing summer vacations unfortunately could not
survive the effects of the 1929 stock market crash and the subsequent
disastrous depression. As the 1930's decade advanced cottages were
left vacant or sold and the number of boats on the lake dropped
noticeably. The Point just wasn't what it not long-ago had been. A
particularly heavy blow at this time was the closing of the Assembly Point Post
Office in the spring of 1935. The road (now SL) built in the early '30's from
Lake George Village to Dunhams Bay, Cleverdale and the northern end of the
Ridge Road made mail delivery cheaper and faster. This was the death knel of
the center of social life on the Point.

‘The only saleable lots left in the 1930's were the 40 ‘campsites’ in
the middle of the LGA property and the 36 small lots along Crossover.
As the Depression worsened no interest in these interior lots appeared
and the corporation, now controled by Ernestine Adamson and her son
Robert with ownership of 80, of the stock,  took action to close the
rights of way that would give lake access 10 the non-shoreline lots.
Harold Adamson had died in 1933,

The Bith of Otyokza

The question became what to do about the remaining property:
all the non-shoreline lots, unplatted land and the Point property itself
where the Post Office/Store had stood. To pay off a major portion of
the bank debt that had developed from LGA business expenses, the
large lot at the end of the Point was sold off. Adamson then arranged
with a small group of Lake George Association property-owners led by G.
S. Pesqura to form Otyakwa, Inc. to take over ownership of all the
remaining Lake George Assembly real property and form Otyokwa
Incorporated_under the Membership Corporation Law of the State of
New York for the purpose of using this property for the mutual
enjoyment and recreation of the members of the corporation, their
familes and guests. The Lake George Assembly ceased to exist on
August 27, 1939.

in closing here s an excerpt from a letter written by me as the
Otyokwa Secretary in 1990 to the Lake George Association:

“You have to understand, and perhaps you already do, that Otyokwa s
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not a business, money.oriented corporation. Rather it may be one the earliest
‘land conservancy’, anti development organizations in the Lake George basin
In 1938, just over half a century ago, Robert W. Adamson, 2 Ife-time resident
of Assembly Foint, arranged for property that had been a part of a real estate
development corporation to be re-incorporated as undeveloped land under the
ownership and protection of the abutting private property owners,

Prepared by C. F. Adamson, Augusst 1999
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Robert Ervien, History of Assembly Point on Lake George,N.Y. 1956
Howard C. Mason, Backward Glances, Volume 1, 1964

Seneca Ray Stoddard, Lake George and Lake Champlain, 1897 and severl
other years
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Otyokwa

Sixtieth Anniversary

1939 - 1999

Otyolowa = Mohawk Dialect: Of-te-yo-kwa - An Assembly or Gathering of Peaple.
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THE HERITAGE OF OTYOKWA

The Founding Fath

“The history leading to the formation of Otyokwa is the tale of two
families - the Sanfords, a New York City family with a very successful patent
medicine business, and the Coolidges, a Revolutionary War family that settled
‘on what is now calied Coolidge Hill in the Town of Bolton. Both of these
families had reason to be aware of the very long peninsulz, then called West
Point, in the southern basin of Lake George. Drurie S. Sanford bought Long
and South Islands in 1871, built for himself and his family a summer home.
and dock on Long Island and laid out pathways with summer. houses along the
shoreline of that Island. For T.. Coolidge, Jonathan Coolidge, and George
Lee, who was raised with T.S. and Jonathan from childhood, West Point was
readily visible from their Bolton mountainside home.

e Chautouqua Inspiration

Quite different interests brought these two families together
towards the end of the 1880's. The Chautauqua religious and
educational summer assemblies, t the height of their popularity at that
time, had a very strong attraction for Drurie Sanford. He was interested
in establishing a Chautauqua community, but was reluctant to mix it
with his home on Long Island. At the same time the Coolidges, involved
with lime, paper and other businesses in Glens Falls, had already been
attracted to fne area by the prospects of harvesting the lumber there on
property ownied by the father of a business colleague, Warren Smith,
The Coolidges bought the first 20 acres on West Point from Smith's
fatherand 20 more from another owner. By the end of the 1880 the
Coolidges had shifted their interest away from the trees on West Point
to the land itselr

It became apparent - in 1887 or 1888 - that Sanford's interests
and those of the Coolidges complemented each other. Sanford was
interested in establishing his Chautauqua community on West Point
rather than on Long Island where it could interfere with the enjoyment
of the island by his family. The Coolidges, faced with the prospect of
selling lots from their 40 acres, needed someone on the spot to
manage the property andplan and lay
out paths, lots and roads. And this was something that Sanford was
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ready to do in exchange for the right to develop his Chautauqua
summer program.

Sanford with the help of his brothers Horatio and Clarence,
accomplished a great deal quickly. There is little doubt that Drurie
Sanford was responsible for the change of name from West Point to
Assembly Point and for the name ‘Lake George Assembly’, which was
legally incorporated in 1890 by T.S. and Jonathan Coolidge, George
Lee, Drurie Sanford and Warren Smith.

The Lectorum

Beginning in 1889 the Sanfords laid out promonades along the
shoreline, built summer houses, measured out lots for sale, and
constructed 4 cottages for the use of Lake George Assembly members
and guests.. One of the cottages was occupied by Drurie's brother
Horatio and another by the editor of the Lake George Mirror. Two of the
cottages are standing today, modified and updated: the Irish and
Selkow homes. The other two were on the sites of the Englert and
Taylor duwellings. In addition the stillexisting LGA caretaker's cottage
was constructed in this period on what is now Crossover Road. Drurie's
brother Clarence also built a cottage near the beach on the property
that today belongs o Phillip Morse. Howard Mason in his book
“Backward Glances™ reports that he moved this structure in the winter
of 1828 over the ice to the point where the Binley summer home is now.

In 1889 Drury achieved his goal of building a suitable structure
for his Chautauqua meetings This structure he named the ‘Lectoriurm’,
1t was a roofed building without walls for the participants in his summer
religous programs on Sundays and his lecture programs on weekdays.
The Lectorium was located on what is now Otyokwa center property
about 200 feet directly behind the Hoffman house. Reportedly the
Lectorium could seat some 200 people. Available records indicate that
it was actively used by Sanford for less than a decade starting in 1890,
but was not disassembled until 1923.

In addition to his other duties Drurie Sanford became postmaster
for the Lake George Assembly Pest Ofiice in the Nineties and retained
that position until 1915, when the job was taken over by the person
hired as the summer caretaker for the LGA property. Although there
were o land sales and no more construction in the LGA area in the
Nineties or most of the first decade and a half of the new century,
cottages were beginning to appear on Assembly Point in the areas south
of the LGA property. One sign that Assembly Point was becoming
busier was the construction of a new Assembly Point dock at the very
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end of the Point. The old dock had been on what is now the Weiss
property - an area more exposed to wind and rain and not as safe for
landing as the boats got larger.

The Post Office also shifted to the end of the Point and remained
there until it was closed in the spring of 1935 when the home.delivery of
mail became possible because of the recent upgrading of the road
between Dunhams Bay and Lake George Village.

When the Lectorium and Sanford's programs did not prove to be
the attractions for which he had hoped, he gave up on them by the end
of the 1890's. There is very little information available about the
decade and a half leading up to 1914. Here is part of a Sanford letter
that Seneca Ray Stoddard published in his book "Lake George and Lake
Champlain® for the year 1897

"My Dear Friend: Yours just at hand, asking present status of LG.A. Wil gve it brefly
2s possible. The Lake George Assembly having been entrely reorganized, is now
nothing more nor less than the Lake George Kiub, and is 1o be managed by and for its
membership. Assembly Point is marvelously well adapted for 3 Kottage Kolony KIuo
of Kontented, Kongenial Kottagers, and we don't want you for the irst 3 K i you are
ot built on the lines o the last 3 ks of that 6K couplet. The lots vary in size, and
present prices run from 2 to & ct. per foot; the average size of single lots will be 50'x
125 The certifcates of stock are in shares of S10 cach Not a share has been
issued excent for full face cash value. The stock will not be watered. a the land itelf
has beautful water views in every direction. (Water is il ight in ts place, of course,
but not n land, stock or milk) Come and see Assembly Poin. You wil b none the.
worse fo 2 day's outing, of which most people take 31l 100 few,

Yours in hopes of KIub Fellowship., Drurie S. Sanford”

Itis not quite clear what Sanford meant by the ‘Lake George
Klub' because the Lake George Assembly had not closed its doors,
although TS Coolidge and other members of the corporation were
certainly not effective in sparking land sales for what 2ppears to be
more than two decades. Other business interests proved to be more
important. Be that as it may, 1914 proved 10 be the pivotal year for the
future of the Lake George Assembly.

in 1914 T.5. Coolidge set out to revitalize the LGA. Jonathan
Coolidge and George Lee had died in the interim and replacements were
needed. Drurie Sanford was stll a member, but had obviously given up
his early interest in a Chautauqua program. What T.S. Coolidge did was
bring into the corporation in 1914 his niece Ernestine Fowler Adamson
and her husband Harold, who was head of Adamson and Bayle Real
Estate and Insurance Company on Lapham place in Glens Falls
Harold's job was to handle the sale of the LGA properties

His first step was to hire the surveyor Ernest Meyer to plat the
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LGA's "40 acres” in preparation for selling off the lots. Mr. Meyer's task
was ot easy. Travel to and from Assembly Point in 1914 was time-
consuming. Meyer had to take a trolley from Glens Falls to Lake George
Village and the boat from there to the dock on the Point. His job was 10
survey and stake out all the lots and roads. This included at that time
roads and lots in the center property and lots all along the south edge
of Crossover.
Mr. Meyer completed his work in time for the sale of lots to begin
in 1814 Here is what Meyer platted:
37 shoreline lots and one large lot for the store and post office:
40 smal lots in the center property
36 even smaller lots on Takundewide Lane (¢.g. now Crossover)
4 161t rights of way and 1 9.1t right-of-way to the lake
for the offshore properties.

Sale of the Lakeshore Lots

Six of the newly platted lots were already occupied by the family
and friends of Drurie Sanford. Now it became the responsibility of
Adamson and Bayle to find buyers for the unsold lots. Doing this was
no longer so difficult as it had been a quarter of a century earlier. The
automobile had become very popular and made Assembly Point more.
easily accessible via the Bay Road from Glens Falls.

As a come-on to attract buyers the Adamsons in 1915 built the
first new cottage on Assembly grounds since 1890. Additional cottages
s00n began to 2ppear. It must have given T.S. Coolidge a sense of
satisfaction before his death in 1921 to see how successful his efforts.
had finally turned out to be. Sales proceeded slowly but regularly
through the 1920's. By the end of the decade Il the saleable
properties on the lakeshore had been purchased and a real sense of
summer community was readily visible,

This was a relaxed and fun time for the LGA people and their
neighbors to the south in other parts of Assembly Point. The 'big’ boats

the Sagamore and the Mohican on this side of the lake and the
Horicon on the west side - delivered mail daily and thus provided
occasions for socializing and conversation. The store in the same
building s the post office on the end of the Point offered some
essentials, including food staples, ice cream cones and gasoline for
boats and cars. Along the shoreline in front of most of the cottages was
2 path used to get to one’s neighbors or even down to the Point’ itself.
To add to the interest - at least for the children - most summers, an
Indian would appear along this path with a backpack full of Indian








